
WEST KLICKITAT RFA MEETING ACTION ITEMS 
(10-15-24) 

NATURE OF ACTION reference RESPONSIBILITY 

Motions   

   

Resolutions   

Deferred Compensation Program (DCP) 2024-14  

Levy and certification 2024-15  

   
 

Policies   

Levels of Service policies e.g. Fire, EMS   

   

   
 

Agreements  

White Salmon Building Lease  

DNR Forest land response   

DNR Inter Agency  

EMAC  

Background Screeners  

  
 

Other Action Items  

EMS License – ratify authorization to submit.  

Washington Fire Commissioners Association membership 
associated health benefits for staff 

 

  

  

  
 



 

WKRFA Meeting 09/30/2024   Page 1 of 5 
  

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority  
Inaugural Meeting  

119 NE Church street White Salmon WA 98672. 

Monday September 30, 2024. 6:30pm. Draft without committee approval 

• The meeting was called to order at 18:30. 
• Flag Salute. 
• Attendance:  

WKRFA Governing Board: Quorum: Thomas Montag, Jason Hartmann, Ben Giant, David Lindley, 
Robert Connor, Charles Virts.   
Advisory groups/staff: Stephanie Porter, Jennifer McLean, Rozalind Plumb (KCFD3 Secretary). Chief 
Long, Chief Hunsaker, Eric Bosler.  
 

• Agenda:   
“Move to approve the agenda as presented” made by Ben Giant, second by Jason Hartmann, 
(6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed.  

• Minutes of September 19th Planning Committee Meeting.  
“Move to approve the minutes from the final Planning Committee meeting.” made by Jason 
Hartmann, seconded by Charles Virts. (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 

• Public Comments: moved to the end of the meeting 
 

• WKRFA Administrative Priorities 
1. Oath of Office. Stephanie Porter officiated the Oath of Office for the Governing 

Board. 
2. Officers of the Board Nominations  

Chair – Thomas Montag was nominated by Charles Virts seconded by Jason 
Hartmann. (6 in favor, 0 opposed) nomination approved. 
Vice Chair – David Lindley was nominated by Ben Giant, seconded by Jason 
Hartmann (6 in favor, 0 opposed) nomination approved.  
Secretary- Rozalind Plumb was appointed as secretary to the board by default of her 
staff position. (0 opposed). 
 

3. Governance Policy 
“Move to approve the Governance Policy as presented.” made by Charles Virts 
second by Jason Hartmann. (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 

4. Regular Board Meetings – Resolution 2024- 01 
“Move to approve the resolution adopting the regular meeting schedule for the 
board.” Made by Charles Virts second by Jason Hartmann, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) 
motion passed. 



 

WKRFA Meeting 09/30/2024   Page 2 of 5 
  

5. Appointment of Specific Officers 

Agent to receive claims -Resolution 2024-02  
“Move to approve resolution 2024-02 Appointing Agent to Receive Claims as 
presented.” made by Ben Giant, second by Jason Hartmann, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) 
motion passed. 
 
Appoint Auditing Officer -Resolution 2024-03  
Discussion on the auditing officer will be a named member of the board of Governors. 
“Move to approve resolution 2024-03 Appointing an Auditing Officer.” made by 
Jason Hartmann, second by Charles Virts, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 

Named Auditing Officer  
Charles Virts was nominated by Jason Hartmann as the board member for 
auditing and payroll review. Second by David Lindley, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) 
motion passed.  

 
Records Retention Officer -Resolution 2024-04  
“Move to approve resolution 2024-04 Appointing the Record Retention Officer” 
made by Ben Giant, second by Charles Virts, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 
Medical Records/ Privacy Officer -Resolution 2024-05  
“Move to approve resolution 2024-05 Appointing Medical Records/ Privacy Officer 
as Rozalind Plumb.” Made by Jason Hartmann, second by Robert Connor, (6 in favor, 
0 opposed) motion passed. 

 
6. Resolutions: 

Establishing funds with the County -Resolution 2024-06  
This sets up the financial accounts with the County Treasurer. 
“Move to approve resolution 2024-06” made by Charles Virts, second by Jason 
Hartmann, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 
Establishing Voucher Pre-approval Process -Resolution 2024-07  
Discussion on the dollar amount. RCW 42.24.180 (1) sets the bond at not less than $50,000. 
“Move to adopt resolution 2024-07 voucher preapproval authority.” Made by David 
Lindley, second by Charles Virts, (6 in favor, 0 opposed motion passed). 
 
Authorizing and approving participation in the Washington Public Employees’ Retirement 
System (PERS) -Resolution 2024-08  
“Move to approve West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority Resolution 2024-08 
authorizing and approving participation in the Washington Public Employees’ 
Retirement System (PERS)” made by Jason Hartmann, second by Ben Giant, (6 in 
favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 



 

WKRFA Meeting 09/30/2024   Page 3 of 5 
  

Accepting Assets and Liabilities (including authorization to sign leases, deeds, Bills of Sale 
etc.) -Resolution 2024-09. 
Discussion on an amendment and decision to remove the wording ‘transfer of assets listed 
on Exhibit A.’ and replace it with ‘transfer of assets in accordance with the West Klickitat 
Regional Fire Authority Plan.” 
“Move to adopt resolution 2024-09 resolution accepting assets and liabilities as 
amended.” Made by Jason Hartmann, second by Ben Giant, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) 
motion passed. 
 
Establishing Small Public Works, Consultant and vendor Rosters -Resolution 2024-10  
“Move to adopt resolution 2024-10.” Made by Charles Virts, second by David 
Lindley, (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 

WKRFA Plan Amendment -Resolution 2024-11 – see below.  
 

Authorizing District to pay Annual fee for volunteer Firefighters retirement -Resolution 
2024-12. 
“Move to adopt resolution 2024-12 Authorizing District to pay Annual fee for 
volunteer Firefighters retirement.” Made by David Lidley, second by Ben Giant, (6 in 
favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 
Small Works Roster Direct Contracting Small Business Utilization Plan. 
Discussion that this sets the expectation to ensure inclusion of small, minority, 
women, and veteran-owned businesses for public works contracts. 
“Move to approve the Small Works roster Direct Contracting Small Business 
Utilization Plan” by Jason Hartmann, second by Ben Giant (6 in favor, 0 opposed) 
motion passed. 
 
Insurance 
Authorizing membership with Enduris- Resolution 2024-13 
Discussion on the amended E&O coverage and quote. Also, to participate in the 
Enduris insurance pool the RFA must approve a resolution and agreement. Due to 
the last-minute arrival of the insurance documents to the board Rozalind had 
consulted with legal counsel on whether the board could approve the resolution 
and agreement today. Since the insurance agreement is an item on the check list of 
documents to be addressed at this meeting it was legal counsel’s opinion that the 
board would not be out of compliance with the special meeting if they acted on the 
resolution today.   
Amendment to replace the word “President” with “chairman”. 
“Move to approve Resolution 2024-13 with the language as amended” made by 
Charles Virts, seconded by Jason Hartmann. (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 



 

WKRFA Meeting 09/30/2024   Page 4 of 5 
  

7. Policies. See check list 
Litigation Defense, Budget, Financial Management 
“Motion to approve the Litigation Defense Policy, the Budget Policy, the Financial 
Management Policy, the Procurement Policy, the Governing Board Compensation 
policy.” made by Jason Hartmann, second by Charles Virts. (6 in favor, 0 opposed) 
motion passed. 
 

8. Agreements- See check list 
“Move to authorize the insurance contract, the Skamania EMS Agreement, and the 
Klickitat County Public Works reimbursable agreement.” 
Made by Jason Hartmann, second by Ben Giant (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion 
passed. 
 

9. Mission statement.  
“To exceed our customers’ expectations through diligent emergent and non-
emergent services, every day.” 
“Motion to accept the motion statement as presented” made by Robert Connor, 
second by Jason Hartmann. (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 

10. Vision statement 
“Create TRUST and long-lasting relationships at every level. 
DEDICATE our existence to our customers every day.   
RESPECT the responsibility entrusted to us and dedicate ourselves to carry out our 
duties with pride of ownership.  
HONOR our relationships through respect, honesty and integrity.” 
“Move to adopt the vision statement as written” made by Ben Giant, second by 
Robert Connor (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 

11. Doing Business as – Southwest Fire & Resue. 
“Move to adopt our doing business as Southwest Fire & Rescue.” Made by Jason 
Hartmann, second by Charles Virts (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion passed. 
 

12. Operational Date 
WKRFA is now officially in existence with authority. However, KCFD3 and WSFD will 
maintain operations through transition period until January 2025. 
 

13. WKRFA Plan Amendment 
KCFD3 will remain in existence. There will be costs associated with maintaining KCFD3. 
Legal counsel has reviewed the situation and recommends making an amendment to the 
WKRFA Plan to cover costs for KCFD3 after all assets have been transferred to WKRFA.  
“Move to approve resolution 2024-11 which is the resolution amending the RFA 
Plan.” made by Ben Giant, second by Charles Virts (6 in favor, 0 opposed) motion 
passed. 
 



 

WKRFA Meeting 09/30/2024   Page 5 of 5 
  

• Public Comment- none  
• Ben Giant – expressed thanks to the subcommittees and every individual involved. 
• Next Meeting:  October 17th 18:30. Location: White Salmon Fire Station 

 
Adjournment:  
Motion to adjourn made by Jason Hartmann seconded by Ben Giant. (motion passed)  
 Meeting adjourned 19:40. 
 
APPROVED:                                                                                 Attest: 
 
____________________________________         __________________________ 
WKRFA Chair -Thomas Montag    (date)                               Secretary Rozalind Plumb 
 

 

































 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 1 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

 
 

FORESTLAND RESPONSE AGREEMENT 

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (DNR) 

NO. 93-108031 

 

 

PI: 221, 222, 223 

Funding Source: State 

Grant Funded: ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Procurement method: ☒ Exempt, Department of Enterprise Services, Sole Source Contract 

Policy No. POL-DES-140-00, Section 5A, Item 1, RCW 39.26.125(10) 

  

This Agreement is entered into between the state of Washington, Department of Natural 

Resources, Southeast Region, hereinafter referred to as “DNR or AGENCY”, and the below 

named Fire Protection District/Department, hereinafter referred to as District/Department.” 

 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority 

PO Box 151 

Husum, WA 98623 

Phone:  509-493-2996 

Email:  chief@kcfd3.com / secretary@kcfd3.com  

Statewide Vendor # (SWV): SWV0324343-00 

 

Authority:  This Agreement is entered into by DNR under the authority of RCW 76.04.015, 

RCW 76.04.135 and RCW 76.04.610(3); and by the District/Department under the authority of 

RCW 52.12.031, RCW 52.12.125 and RCW 35.21.010; and DNR and District/Department in 

conformity with RCW 39.34, the Interlocal Cooperation Act. 

 

In consideration of the terms, conditions and covenants contained herein, or attached and 

incorporated and made a part hereof, the Parties mutually agree as follows: 

 

1. Purpose:  The purpose of this Agreement is to (1) provide for mutual assistance and 

cooperation in the control and suppression of forestland fire and therefore to contract for 

the District/Department to provide fire protection services to an area within the 

jurisdiction of DNR and located in, or adjacent to, the District/Department and to contract 

for the DNR to assist in fire protection services on forestland within District/Department 

jurisdiction; and (2) dispatch and pay for fire service resources outside the fire service 

mailto:chief@kcfd3.com
mailto:secretary@kcfd3.com


 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 2 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

District/Department jurisdictional boundaries for wildfire and prescribed (RX) fire 

dispatch. 

 

2. Scope:  This Agreement pertains to forestland fire incidents within or adjacent to the 

District/Department boundaries and to District/Department resources ordered through the 

DNR Region or Division for dispatch outside of District/Department boundaries for 

support provided by DNR as outlined in Attachment A – Operational Guidelines for 

Resources ordered through the DNR Region or Division for dispatch outside of 

District/Department boundaries.  

 

3.  Term. The term of this agreement is October 1, 2024, or date of execution, whichever is 

later, through December 31, 2029.  

 

4. Jurisdictional Responsibility:  Within or adjacent to the District/Department 

boundaries, the statutory jurisdictional responsibility for fire control on forestland varies.  

It may be: 

 

(1) Sole DNR Jurisdiction:  Land subject to Forest Fire Protection Assessment and 

District/Department is NOT collecting fire protection levy 

 

(2) Sole District/Department Jurisdiction:  Land subject to District/Department fire 

protection levy and not subject to Forest Fire Protection Assessment. 

 

(3)    Joint Jurisdiction:  Land subject to Forest Fire Protection Assessment and the 

District/Department is collecting fire protection levy.   

 

5. Mutual Aid Fire Incident Response: 

 

(1) Sole DNR Jurisdiction:  In the event of a fire emergency in a sole DNR 

jurisdiction area, the DNR will respond. The District/Department may respond to 

provide immediate control action, minimize fire loss, and thereby indirectly protect 

its own jurisdiction area. DNR may request response from the District/Department 

to gain timely initial attack and control action, or to supplement DNR resources. 

 

(2) Sole District/Department Jurisdiction:  In the event of a fire emergency in a sole 

District/Department jurisdiction area, the District/Department will respond. DNR 

may respond to provide immediate control action, minimize fire loss, and thereby 

indirectly protect its own jurisdiction area. The District/Department may request 

that DNR provide supplemental resources for fire emergency operations and 

support. 

 

(3) Joint Jurisdiction:  In the event of a fire emergency in a joint jurisdiction area, 

both DNR and the District/Department will respond, subject to the availability of 

resources. 

 

6. Off-Season Incidents:  For this Agreement, no incident will be considered off-season.  

Fire season will be January 1-December 31 each year. 

 



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 3 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

7. Command: 

 

(1) Sole DNR Jurisdiction Incidents:  When the District/Department is the first 

arriving agency, the District/Department on-site initial responders shall establish 

command until released by a representative of DNR. 

 

(2) Sole District/Department Jurisdictional Incidents:  When DNR is the first 

arriving agency, the DNR on-site initial responders shall establish command until 

released by a representative of the District/Department. 

 

(3) Joint Jurisdiction Incidents:  The first arriving agency initial responders shall 

establish command, and, upon the arrival of the other agency, unified command will 

be established and used for incident management. 

 

8. Fire Control and Suppression Definitions: 

 

(1) Forestland: As the term is defined by RCW 76.04.005. 

 

(2) Ordering:  Prior to the arrival of DNR at the incident, the initial attack incident 

commander may order special resources through DNR. That decision shall be 

documented, and payment authorized (see Section 11 and 12 of this Agreement) by 

DNR prior to the mobilization of special resources. 

 

(3) Special Resources:  Air resources, dozers, heavy equipment, or other resources 

deemed necessary to contain and control the fire. 

 

9.  Operation Guidelines:   

 

(1) Forestland Response:  Representatives of the District/Department and DNR may 

mutually develop operation guidelines that provide principles, direction and 

guidance for the conduct of fire control operations related to forest land response. 

The operation guidelines shall be reviewed at least annually and revised as 

necessary to achieve cooperation and understanding.  

 

(2) DNR Dispatch:  See Attachment A - Operation Guidelines for resources ordered 

through the DNR Region or Division for dispatch outside of the 

District/Department jurisdictional boundaries; which is incorporated by reference 

herein. 

 

(3) Prescribed (RX) Fire Dispatch:  See Attachment A – Operational Guidelines for 

resources ordered through the DNR Region or Division for dispatch outside of the 

District/Department jurisdictional boundaries; which is incorporated by reference 

herein. The guidelines for Fire Dispatch are the same, whether that be for a 

Wildland Fire Incident or Prescribed Fire. 

 

10.  Fire Investigation:  The District/Department and DNR agree to protect the origin area of 

any fire to the best of its ability. Fires will be jointly investigated when an incident 

originated in a joint jurisdiction area. A DNR fire investigator may investigate fires 



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 4 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

originating on, spreading to or threatening land subject to Forest Fire Protection 

Assessment (i.e., sole DNR or joint jurisdiction areas). 

 

11. Costs: 

 

(1) Charges Not Required:  One purpose of this Agreement is mutual assistance and 

cooperation in the control and suppression of fires (see Section 1 - Purpose).  In 

most instances, resource costs will not be charged to the other party. However, there 

may be circumstances or conditions where the District/Department or DNR desires 

or is required to charge, or request reimbursement, for resource costs as described in 

Subsections (2), (3), (4), and (5) below.  

 

(2) Sole DNR Jurisdiction:  If the District/Department responds, DNR will pay for 

District/Department personnel and equipment costs outside of mutual aid unless 

otherwise negotiated.  

 

(3) Sole District/Department Jurisdiction:  If DNR responds, the District/Department 

will pay for DNR personnel and equipment costs outside of mutual aid unless 

otherwise negotiated.  

 

(4) Joint Jurisdiction:  Initial attack through complete extinguishment of the fire, each 

party will pay its own costs. 

 

(5) DNR Dispatch:  If District/Department personnel is dispatched by DNR outside of 

District/Department jurisdictional boundaries, DNR will pay for 

District/Department personnel and equipment costs.   

 

12. Cost Reimbursement Procedures:   

 

(1) Forestland Response:  Provisions within this Agreement for reimbursement of 

costs related to forest land response are subject to the following conditions: 

 

(a)  Notice:  Prior to costs being incurred as allowed by this Agreement (other than 

DNR Dispatch), notice of such expenditure must be given to DNR of the 

requesting agency prior to the expenditure or commitment of funds. 

 

(b) Invoice:  Any resource provider costs, which are to be billed, must be invoiced 

within sixty (60) business days of the last date of incurred expense for the 

incident. 

 

(2) DNR Dispatch:  Provisions within this Agreement for reimbursement of costs 

related to DNR dispatch are outlined in Attachment A - Operation Guidelines for 

resources ordered through the DNR Region or Division for dispatch outside of the 

District/Department jurisdictional boundaries; which is incorporated by reference 

herein. 

 

13. Cost Reimbursement Rates:   

 

(1) Forestland Response: 



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 5 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

(a) Equipment costs shall be paid to the resource provider at the DNR Wage and 

Equipment Rates or as otherwise agreed to in writing by the respective 

authorized agency representatives. 

 

(b) Career/permanent and seasonal personnel costs will be reimbursed to the 

resource provider at the resource provider’s actual total cost. This will include 

backfill costs as outlined in the State Mobilization Plan. 

 

(2) DNR Dispatch: 

Cost reimbursement rates related to DNR dispatch are outlined in Attachment A - 

Operation Guidelines for resources ordered through the DNR Region or Division 

for dispatch outside of the District/Department boundaries. 

 

14. Insurance: DNR is an agency of the state of Washington and is therefore self-insured 

under the State’s Self-Insurance Liability Program. The District/Department shall, at all 

times during the term of this Agreement at its sole cost and expense, buy and maintain 

insurance of the types and amounts listed below. Failure to buy and maintain the required 

insurance may result in the termination of the Agreement at DNR’s option. If the 

District/Department is self-insured, evidence of its status as self-insured will be provided 

to DNR, and if deemed acceptable by DNR, shall satisfy the insurance requirements 

specified by this Section. The limits of insurance to be bought and maintained by the 

District/Department shall not be less than as follows:  

 

 Minimum Coverage Requirements:  These limits may not be sufficient to cover all 

liability losses and related claim settlement expenses. Purchase of these minimum limits 

of coverage does not relieve the District/Department from liability for losses and 

settlement expenses greater than these amounts. DNR shall not be charged for the cost for 

insurance coverage(s). 

 

District/Department is required to purchase insurance for a period of 36 months after 

completion of this Agreement. This requirement may be satisfied by the continuous 

purchase of an extended agreement. This requirement may be satisfied by the continuous 

purchase of an extended reporting period. During the term of the Agreement, 

District/Department must purchase and maintain the insurance coverage and limits 

specified below: 

 

(1)  Commercial General Liability (CGL) Insurance or District/Department 

Equivalent.  District/Department must purchase and maintain CGL on an Insurance 

Services Office (ISO) form CG 00 01 or equivalent form, covering liability arising 

from premises, operations, independent contractors, personal injury, products-

completed operations, and liability assumed under an insured contract. Such 

insurance must be provided on an occurrence basis. If insurance is written on a 

“claims made” basis, the policy shall provide full coverage for prior acts or include 

a retroactive date that precedes the effective date of this Agreement.  Insurance 

must include liability coverage with limits not less than those specified below: 

 

Description      Dollar Amount 

General Aggregate Limit    $2,000,000 

     (Other than products-completed operations) 



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 6 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

Each Occurrence Limit    $2,000,000 

 

(2) Employer's liability ("Stop Gap") Insurance: District/Department shall purchase 

and maintain employer’s liability insurance and if necessary, commercial umbrella 

liability insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 each accident for bodily 

injury by accident or $1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 

(3) Business Auto Policy (BAP) Insurance: If activities pursuant to this Agreement 

involve the use of vehicles, to include FEPP vehicles, the District/Department must 

purchase and maintain a BAP on an Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 

01 or equivalent form. The Description of Covered Autos must include one or more 

of the following: 

a. “Any Auto” (Symbol 1). 

b. If District/Department-owned personal vehicles are used, the BAP must cover 

“Owned Autos Only” (Symbol 2). 

c. If District/Department hires autos, the BAP must cover “Hired Autos Only” 

(Symbol 8). 

d. If District/Department employee’s vehicles are used, the BAP must cover “Non-

Owned Autos Only” (Symbol 9). 

Such insurance must be provided on an occurrence basis. The BAP insurance must 

include liability coverage with limits not less than those specified below. The 

District/Department is responsible for any deductible. 

 Description      Each Accident 

 Bodily Injury and Property Damage   $1,000,000 

(4) Workers Compensation Insurance or Equivalent: The District/Department shall 

comply with all state of Washington workers compensation statutes and regulations. 

Coverage shall be provided for all employees and volunteers of the 

District/Department and shall include bodily injury (including death) that arises out 

of or in connection with the performance of this Agreement. 

 

15. Service Limitations. The responses and fire suppression services provided for under this 

Agreement are intended to be rendered on the same basis as such services are rendered to 

other areas within the District/Department or DNR jurisdictions and neither party 

assumes liability for failure to provide services by reason of any circumstances beyond 

the party’s control.  In the event of simultaneous fires or medical aid calls within the 

areas covered by this Agreement whereby facilities of either party are taxed beyond the 

party’s ability to render equal protection, the officers and agents of the party shall have 

sole discretion as to which call shall be answered first. The responding party shall have 

sole discretion to determine the manner and method of responding to and handling 

emergencies under this Agreement consistent with Section 7 - Command of this 

Agreement. 

  

16.    Benefits. This agreement is entered into for the benefit of the parties to this agreement 

only and shall confer no benefits, direct or implied, on any third persons.  

 

17. Renegotiation and Modification: The terms and conditions of this Agreement may be 

renegotiated at the request of either Party between the dates of January 1 and March 1 of 



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 7 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

any year. Any modification or amendment of this Agreement must be in writing and must 

be signed by duly authorized agents of the Parties. 

 

18.  Assignment and Delegation:  This Agreement, or any right or interest therein, may not 

be assigned or otherwise transferred by either Party without the prior written consent of 

the other Party. Any attempted assignment shall be void unless made in strict conformity 

with this section. 

 

Either Party may perform its duty through a delegate or agent but shall not be thereby 

relieved of any duty to perform or any liability for breach of this Agreement. 

 

19. Remedies:  Any remedy exercised by either Party shall not be deemed exclusive and 

either Party may pursue any and all other remedies available to it under the law. 

 

20. Compliance with Laws:  Parties shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local 

laws, rules and regulations that govern each component of this Agreement. 

 

21. Non–Waiver:  Waiver by either Party of strict performance of any provision of this 

Agreement shall not act as a waiver of the right of the other Party to require future strict 

performance of the same provision or any other provision. 

 

22 Harassment.  Per RCW 43.01.135, Sexual harassment in the workplace, Agency 

Contractors hereby have access to DNR Policy PO01-052 Sexual Harassment:    

 https://www.dnr.wa.gov/publications/em_harassment_prevention_policy.pdf 

 

24. Interpretation and Venue:  This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in 

accordance with the laws of the state of Washington. The venue of any action brought 

under this Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of Thurston County. 

 

25. Severability:  If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, such invalidity 

shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement that can be given effect without the 

invalid provision(s), and to this end the provisions of this Agreement are declared 

severable. 

 

26. Termination:  This Agreement may be terminated by either Party by the provision of 

ninety (90) days written notice, provided that neither Party may terminate this Agreement 

at any time between April 15 and October 15 of any year due to the fire danger during 

this period. 

 

27.  Agreement Managers: 

DNR AGREEMENT MANAGER 

Name:  Callan Wilkins 

Title:  Cooperator Wildfire Training Coordinator 

Address: 713 Bowers Rd. 

City/State/Zip:  Ellensburg, WA 98926 

Phone: (509) 899-3876 

Email:  callan.wilkins@dnr.wa.gov   

 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.01.135
https://www.dnr.wa.gov/publications/em_harassment_prevention_policy.pdf
mailto:callan.wilkins@dnr.wa.gov


 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 8 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

DISTRICT/DEPARTMENT AGREEMENT MANAGER 

Name:  Wesley W. Long 

Title:  Fire Chief 

Address: PO Box 151 

City/State/Zip:  Husum, WA 98623 

Phone: 509-493-2996 

Email: chief@kcfd3.com  

 

This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements. 

 

By signature below, the Agencies certify that the individuals listed in this document, as 

representatives of the Agencies, are authorized to act in their respective areas for matters related 

to this instrument. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement. 

 

DISTRICT/DEPARTMENT  STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL 

RESOURCES 
 

   
Signature                                                                                        Date   Signature                                                                                     Date 

Welsey W. Long  Larry Leach 
Printed Name  Printed Name 

Fire Chief  SE Region Manager (Acting) 
Title  Title 

   

DISTRICT/DEPARTMENT  

  
Signature                                                                                        Date   

  
Printed Name  

  
Title  

  

DISTRICT/DEPARTMENT  

  
Signature                                                                                        Date   

  
Printed Name  

  
Title  

  

DISTRICT/DEPARTMENT  

  
Signature                                                                                        Date  

  
Printed Name  

  
Title  

 

mailto:chief@kcfd3.com


 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 9 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

Attachment A 

Operation Guidelines 
Resources ordered through the DNR Region or Division for 

 Dispatch outside of District/Department jurisdictional boundaries 

 

Department of Natural Resources (DNR) agrees to dispatch District/Department resources to 

incidents outside of the Districts/Department jurisdictional boundaries as needed to meet DNR 

responsibilities and as approved by the District/Department. Dispatches can include out of the 

state of Washington. Participation by a District/Department with incidents outside its jurisdiction 

is voluntary and separate from involvement in State Fire Mobilization.   

 

This Agreement extends to all District/Department members: 

▪ Washington Fire Service (WFS) paid members which District/Department allow to 

participate will be paid by the District/Department. DNR will reimburse 

district/department costs as outlined in this agreement. 

 

▪ Members of Washington Fire Service who are volunteers will need to be hired by the 

DNR via the DNR casual hire process and paid directly by DNR. This may be completed 

pre-season or at the time of the incident. Your local DNR Region office will handle the 

casual hire process.  

 

District/Department agrees: 

1) All personnel dispatched outside of their jurisdictional boundaries will have a valid 

Incident Qualification Card (red card) stating current qualifications; and will adhere to 

qualifications and standards described in NWCG PMS 310-1; 

 

2) To keep equipment and personnel status current in the Interagency Resource Ordering 

Capability (IROC) by selecting option a. or b. below. List available resources on the 

following resource list addendum.  (Check one): 

 

a.   With DNR Region approval, DNR Region will give Web-Status rights to 

IROC for district employees. It is the employee’s responsibility to ensure that 

their status is accurate.  

b.   DNR Region will status your employees. For this option, you would need to 

provide your local DNR Region Dispatch with the status of your employees every 

Monday by 1200 hours. Dispatch would then update their status in IROC for that 

week (0800 Tuesday to 0800 Tuesday). 

 

For dispatches outside of the DNR region, approval from DNR host region fire staff is 

required. Host region fire staff will coordinate with Wildland Fire Management Division 

in order to ensure statewide readiness.  

 

3) To notify your local DNR Region of any changes in status of personnel/equipment (i.e.; 

dispatched/demobilized under State Fire Mobilization, demobilization & ETA home from 

incidents dispatched thru DNR, etc.);  

 

4) All personnel and equipment dispatched will be paid by the District/Department; (except 

volunteers will follow payment procedures outlined in their individual agreement and be 

paid directly by DNR); 



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 10 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

 

5) All Equipment and Personnel dispatched under this agreement will arrive at each incident 

with a copy of their current Forestland Response Agreement. 

 

6) Invoice for personnel and equipment costs billed to DNR will include:   

  

a. Original Emergency Fire Time Report (OF-288); hourly wage rate (regular and 

OT) for personnel hours on the OF-288. This applies to paid district/department 

staff. Volunteers will be paid directly by DNR. 

b. Original shift ticket (OF-286) documenting mileage to/from incident as well as 

mileage incurred on the incident signed by the incident supervisor.  

c. Copy of Resource Order card. 

 

7) Invoices requesting payment for equipment (engines/tenders) will be submitted to DNR 

within sixty (60) business days of the last date of the incurred expense for the incident 

and shall include Original Emergency Equipment Use Invoice Form (OF-286) and shift 

tickets (OF-297); and 

 

8) Invoices requesting payment for other travel costs (meals, lodging not provided by the 

incident) must be submitted to DNR within sixty (60) business days of the last date of the 

incurred expense for the incident. 

 

9) Only utilize agency owned vehicles or procured rental vehicles on the fireline or off-road. 

 

DNR agrees to: 

1) Assist the District/Department with updating status of IMT members in IROC;   

 

2) Maintain IQS records for District/Department personnel with NWCG PMS 310-1 

wildland fire qualifications, if red carded through the DNR; 

 

3) Reimburse District/Department within 30 days of invoice receipt and documentation as 

required above; 

 

4) Reimburse the Fire Service District/Department at the Total Cost of personnel. This 

includes, regular time, overtime, and District/Department backfill for that position as 

outlined in the State Mobilization Plan. The DNR will not pay for muster time, wildland 

premium pay, or other unspecified pay provisions. 

 

Rental vehicles for Off-road use must be procured consistent with the National Emergency 

Rental Vehicle Blanket Purchase Agreement (NERV). Rental vehicles for non-fire line positions 

must be rented through alternative sources other than the USFS NERV rental vehicle agreement. 

Rental vehicle authorization must be documented on the resource order. Please speak with your 

local DNR Region for more specific information.  

 
  



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 11 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

DISTRICT/DEPARMENT RESOURCE LIST 

OVERHEAD AND EQUIPMENT ADDENDUM 

DNR will dispatch and process invoices for the following fire district members and equipment when 

dispatched by DNR outside of their fire district. 

 

Overhead Resources 

 Name Career or 

Volunteer 

Backfill 

Required 

Position/Qualifications Team Affiliation 

or Single Resource 

1 Wesley W. Long Career Yes DIVS SE Team 1 
 

2  

 

    

3  

 

    

4  

 

    

5  

 

    

6      

7      

8      

9      

10  

 

    

11  

 

    

12      

13      

14      

15      

16      

17      

18      

19      

20      

21      

22      



 

Agreement No. 93-108031  Page 12 of 12  

  Form update date: 12/18/23 

 

DISTRICT/DEPARMENT RESOURCE LIST 

OVERHEAD AND EQUIPMENT ADDENDUM 

DNR will dispatch and process invoices for the following fire district members and equipment when 

dispatched by DNR outside of their fire district. 

 

Equipment Resources 

   Rate /  

Negotiated Rate* 

1 4 Type 5/6 Brush Apparatus Brush 30-24 
 

 

2 4 Type 1 Structural Apparatus Engine 30-34 

 

 

3 4 Type 2 Tactical Water Tenders WT 30-34 
 

 

4 3 Command Vehicles 

 

4X4 F150 - 2 4X4 F350-1 

 

 

5   

 

 

6   

 

 

7   

 

 

8   

 

 

9   

 

 

10    

* The negotiated rate must be agreed upon between the signing parties prior to dispatch. 

 

CONTACT INFORMATION: 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  1 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

 

INTERAGENCY AGREEMENT  

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES (DNR) 

NO. 93-108032 

 

 

PI: 221, 222, 223, 224 

Funding Source: State 

Grant Funded: ☐ Yes ☒ No 

OMWBE: ☒ Not Applicable 

Procurement method: ☒ Exempt, Department of Enterprise Services, Sole Source Contract 

Policy No. POL-DES-140-00, Section 5A, Item 1, RCW 39.26.125(10) 

 

This Agreement is made and entered into between the Washington State Department of Natural 

Resources, hereinafter referred to as DNR, and the below named firm, hereinafter referred to as 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority. 

 

DNR and West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority enter into this agreement under Chapter 39.34, 

Interlocal Cooperation Act. 

 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority 

P.O. Box 151 

Husum, WA, 98623 

Phone: 509-493-2996 

Email: chief@kcfd3.com / secretary@kcfd3.com  

Statewide Vendor # (SWV): SWV0324343-00 

 
IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED THAT: 

 

1.0 Purpose.  The purpose of this Agreement is for West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority to 

provide employees, referred to as single resources, equipment, material and/or services for wildfire 

or other emergency response and to establish DNR’s payment and reimbursement responsibilities 

to West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority for providing such single resources, equipment material 

and/or services.  Dispatches under this agreement are limited to the State of Washington, unless 

mailto:chief@kcfd3.com
mailto:secretary@kcfd3.com


 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  2 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

the single resource is rostered on a Pacific Northwest Incident Management Team (IMT) type 1, 

2 or 3. 

 

2.0 Scope of Work.  The West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall furnish the necessary 

personnel, equipment, material and/or services and otherwise do all things necessary for or 

incidental to performing work set forth in the Exhibit A – Scope of Work. 

 

3.0 Period of Performance.  The period of performance under this contract will be from 

November 1, 2024, or date of execution, whichever is later, through December 31, 2029.  

 

4.0 Billing Procedures. West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall submit invoices within 

sixty (60) days of the last date of demobilization. Payment for approved goods and/or services will 

be made by check, warrant or account transfer within 30 days of receipt of the invoice.  Upon 

expiration of the Agreement, invoices shall be paid, if received within 30 days after the expiration 

date.  However, invoices for all work done within a fiscal year must be submitted within 30 days 

after the end of the fiscal year. 

 

Each invoice submitted to DNR shall include information needed by DNR to determine the actual 

expenditures to be reimbursed and the exact nature of all approved expenditures for services 

provided. Invoices & billing packages shall be prepared according to the requirements outlined in 

Attachment A 

 

5.0 Records Maintenance. West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall maintain books, 

records, documents and other evidence, to sufficiently document all direct and indirect costs 

incurred by West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority in providing the services.  These records shall 

be available for inspection, review, or audit by personnel of the DNR, other personnel authorized 

by the DNR, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal officials as authorized by law. West 

Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall keep all books, records, documents, and other material 

relevant to this Agreement for six years after agreement expiration. The Office of the State Auditor, 

federal auditors, and any persons authorized by the parties shall have full access to and the right 

to examine any of these materials during this period. 

 

Records and other documents in any medium furnished by one party to this agreement to the other 

party, will remain the property of the furnishing party, unless otherwise agreed.  The receiving 

party will not disclose this material to any third parties without first notifying the furnishing party 

and giving it a reasonable opportunity to respond.  Each party will use reasonable security 

procedures and protections to assure that records and documents provided by the other party are 

not erroneously disclosed to third parties. 

 

6.0 Rights to Data.  Unless otherwise agreed, data originating from this Agreement shall be 

‘works for hire’ as defined by as defined by Title 17 U.S.C., Section 101 and shall be owned by 

the DNR. Data shall include, but not be limited to, reports, documents, pamphlets, advertisements, 

books, magazines, surveys, studies, computer programs, films, tapes, and/or sound reproductions.  

Ownership includes the right to use, copyright, patent, register and the ability to transfer these 

rights. 

 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  3 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

7.0 Independent Capacity.  The employees or agents of each party who are engaged in 

performing this Agreement shall continue to be employees or agents of that party and shall not be 

considered for any purpose to be employees or agents of the other party. 

 

8.0 Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties.  

Amendments shall be in writing and signed by personnel authorized to bind each of the parties. 

 

9.0 Termination for Convenience.  Either party may terminate this Agreement upon 30 

calendar days’ prior written (including email) notice to the other party.  If this Agreement is 

terminated, the parties shall be liable only for performance rendered or costs incurred in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement prior to the effective date of termination.  

 

10.0 Termination for Cause.  If for any cause either party does not fulfill in a timely and proper 

manner its obligations under this Agreement, or if either party violates any of the terms and 

conditions, the aggrieved party will give the other party written notice of the failure or violation.  

The aggrieved party will give the other party 15 working days to correct the violation or failure.   

If the failure or violation is not corrected within 15 days, the aggrieved party may immediately 

terminate this Agreement by notifying the other party in writing (including email). 

 

11.0 Disputes.  If a dispute arises, each party will make a good faith effort to resolve issues at 

the lowest possible level in their respective agencies.  If they cannot resolve an issue, they will 

elevate the issue within their respective chains of command to resolve it. 

 

In the event that a dispute arises under this Agreement, it shall be determined by a Dispute Board 

in the following manner:  Each party to this Agreement shall appoint one member to the Dispute 

Board.  The members so appointed shall jointly appoint an additional member to the Dispute 

Board.  The Dispute Board shall evaluate the facts, Agreement terms, applicable statutes and rules, 

and make a determination of the dispute.  The determination of the Dispute Board shall be final 

and binding on both parties.  The cost of resolution will be borne as allocated by the Dispute Board.  

Alternatively, the parties may pursue a third-party dispute resolution as the parties mutually agree 

to in writing. 

 

12.0 Governance.  This contract is entered into by the authority granted by the laws of the State 

of Washington and any applicable federal laws.  The provisions of this agreement shall be 

construed to conform to those laws. 

 

If there is an inconsistency in the terms of this Agreement, or between its terms and any applicable 

statute or rule, the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving precedence in the following order: 

 

(1) Applicable federal statutes and rules; 

(2) State of Washington statutes and regulations 

 (3) Scope of Work; and 

 (4) Any other provisions of the agreement, including materials incorporated by 

reference. 

 

13.0 Assignment.  The work to be provided under this Agreement and any claim arising from 

this Agreement cannot be assigned or delegated in whole or in part by either party, without the 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  4 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

express prior written consent of the other party.  Neither party shall unreasonably withhold 

consent. 

 

14.0 Waiver.  A party that fails to exercise its rights under this agreement is not precluded from 

subsequently exercising its rights.  A party’s rights may only be waived through a written 

amendment to this agreement. 

 

15.0 Harassment.  Per RCW 43.01.135, Sexual harassment in the workplace, Agency 

Contractors hereby have access to DNR Policy PO01-052 Sexual Harassment:    

https://www.dnr.wa.gov/publications/em_harassment_prevention_policy.pdf 

 

16.0  Severability.  The provisions of this agreement are severable.  If any provision of this 

Agreement or any provision of any document incorporated by reference should be held invalid, 

the other provisions of this Agreement without the invalid provision remain valid.  

 

17.0 Responsibilities of the Parties/Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

the West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall indemnify, defend (with counsel acceptable to 

DNR), and hold harmless DNR, its officials, agents, and employees, from and against all claims 

arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Agreement. “Claim” as used in this 

Agreement means any financial loss, claim, suit, action, damage, or expense, including but not 

limited to attorneys’ fees, attributable for bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or injury to or 

destruction of tangible property including loss of use resulting therefrom. West Klickitat Regional 

Fire Authority’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless includes any claim by West 

Klickitat Regional Fire Authority’s employees, representatives, any subcontractor or its 

employees, or any third party. 

 

However, West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall not indemnify, defend, or hold harmless 

DNR, its officials, agents, and employees for claims caused by or resulting from the sole 

negligence of DNR, its officials, agents, and employees and in the event of concurrent negligence 

by (1) West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority, its agents, employees, representatives, any 

subcontractor or its employees, or any third party and (2) DNR, its officials, agents, and employees, 

then West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 

DNR, its officials, agents, and employees shall be valid and enforceable only to the extent of West 

Klickitat Regional Fire Authority, its agents, employees, representatives, any subcontractor or its 

employees, or any third party’s share of any concurrent negligence. 

 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority waives its immunity under Title 51 RCW to the extent it is 

required to indemnify, defend and hold harmless DNR and its officials, agents or employees. 

 

18.0 Insurance. Before using any of said rights granted herein and its own expense, West 

Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall purchase and maintain, [optional: or require its 

agent(s)/subcontractor to purchase and maintain,] the insurance described below for the entire 

duration of this Agreement.  Failure to purchase and maintain the required insurance may result in 

the termination of the Agreement at DNR’s option. 

 

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.01.135
https://www.dnr.wa.gov/publications/em_harassment_prevention_policy.pdf


 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  5 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

All insurance provided in compliance with this Agreement shall be primary as to any other 

insurance or self-insurance programs afforded to, or maintained by, the State of Washington, 

Department of Natural Resources. 

 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall provide DNR with certificates of insurance, executed 

by a duly authorized representative of each insurer, showing compliance with the insurance 

requirements specified in this Agreement before using any of said rights granted herein.  The 

description section of the certificate shall contain the Contract Number and the name of the DNR 

Project Manager. West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall also provide renewal certificates as 

appropriate during the term of this Agreement. 

 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall include all subcontractors and agents as insured under 

all required insurance policies or shall provide separate certificates of insurance for each 

subcontractor or agent.  Failure of West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority to have its subcontractors 

and agents comply with the insurance requirements contained herein does not limit West Klickitat 

Regional Fire Authority’s liability or responsibility. 

 

INSURANCE TYPES & LIMITS: The limits of insurance, which may be increased by State, as 

deemed necessary, shall not be less than as follows: 

 

Commercial General Liability (CGL) Insurance: West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall 

purchase and maintain commercial general liability insurance with a limit of not less than 

$1,000,000 per each occurrence.  If such CGL insurance contains aggregate limits, the general 

aggregate limits shall be at least twice the "each occurrence" limit, and the products-completed 

operations aggregate limit shall be at least twice the "each occurrence" limit.  All insurance must 

cover liability arising out of premises, operations, independent contractors, products completed 

operations, personal injury and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an insured contract 

(including the tort liability of another party assumed in a business contract) and contain separation 

of insured (cross-liability) condition. 

 

Employer's liability ("Stop Gap") Insurance: West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall purchase 

and maintain employer’s liability insurance and if necessary, commercial umbrella liability 

insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 each accident for bodily injury by accident and 

$1,000,000 each employee for bodily injury by disease. 

 

Business Auto Policy (BAP) Insurance: West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall purchase and 

maintain business auto insurance and if necessary, commercial umbrella liability insurance with a 

limit of not less than $1,000,000 per accident, with such insurance covering liability arising out of 

"Any Auto".  The policy shall be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage and cover a 

“covered pollution cost or expense.” West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority waives all rights of 

subrogation against State for the recovery of damages to the extent they are covered by business 

auto liability or commercial umbrella liability insurance. 

 

Industrial Insurance (Workers Compensation): West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority shall 

comply with Title 51 RCW by maintaining workers compensation insurance for its employees. 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority waives all rights of subrogation against State for recovery 

of damages to the extent they are covered by Industrial Insurance, employer’s liability, general 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  6 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

liability, excess, or umbrella insurance. West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority waives its Title 51 

RCW immunity to the extent it is required by its indemnity obligation under this Agreement. 

 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS: 

 

Additional Insured: The State of Washington, Department of Natural Resources, its officials, 

agents, and employees shall be named as additional insured by endorsement on all general liability, 

excess, and umbrella insurance policies. 

 

Cancellation: DNR shall be provided written notice before cancellation or non-renewal of any 

insurance referred to therein, in accord with the following specifications. 

 

1. Insurers subject to Chapter 48.18 RCW (Admitted and Regulated by the Insurance 

Commissioner): The insurer shall give the State 45 days advance notice of cancellation or 

nonrenewal.  If cancellation is due to non-payment of premium, the State shall be given 10 

days advance notice of cancellation. 

2. Insurers subject to Chapter 48.15 RCW (Surplus Lines): The State shall be given 20 days 

advance notice of cancellation.  If cancellation is due to non-payment of premium, the State 

shall be given 10 days advance notice of cancellation. 

 

Insurance Carrier Rating: All insurance shall be issued by companies admitted to do business in 

the State of Washington and have a rating of A-, Class VII, or better.  Any exception must be 

reviewed and approved by the DNR Risk Manager or the DNR Contracts Manager, in the Risk 

Manager’s absence.  If an insurer is not admitted to do business in the State of Washington, all 

insurance policies and procedures for issuing the insurance policies must comply with Chapters 

48.15 RCW and 284-15 WAC. 

 

Self-Insurance: If West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority is self-insured, evidence of its status as 

a self-insured entity shall be provided to State.  The evidence should demonstrate that West 

Klickitat Regional Fire Authority’s self-insurance meets all of the required insurance coverage of 

this Agreement to the satisfaction of State including the description of the funding mechanism and 

its financial condition.  If the funding mechanism or financial condition of the self-insurance 

program of West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority is inadequate, then State may require the 

purchase of additional commercial insurance to comply with this Agreement. 

 

Waiver: West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority waives all rights of subrogation against State for 

recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by general liability, excess, or 

umbrella insurance maintained pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

19.0 Complete Agreement in Writing.  This Agreement contains all the terms and conditions 

agreed upon by the parties. No other understanding, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject matter 

of this Agreement shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  7 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

20.0 Contract Management.  

 

CONTRACTOR Contract Manager  DNR Contract Manager  

Wesley W. Long 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority 

P.O. Box 151 

Husum, WA, 98623 

Phone: 509-493-2996 

Fax: N/A 

Email address: chief@kcfd3.com  

Wyatt Leighton 

Department of Natural Resources 

713 Bowers Road 

Ellensburg, WA, 98926 

Phone: 509-925-0959 

Fax: 509-925-8522 

Email address: wyatt.leighton@dnr.wa.gov 

CONTRACTOR Project Manager  DNR Project Manager  

Wesley W. Long 

West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority 

P.O. Box 151 

Husum, WA, 98623 

Phone: 509-493-2996  

Fax: N/A 

Email address: chief@kcfd3.com  

Callan Wilkins 

Department of Natural Resources 

713 Bowers Road 

Ellensburg, WA, 98926 

Phone: 509-899-3876 

Fax: 509-925-8522 

Email address: callan.wilkins@dnr.wa.gov  

 

22.0  Subcontracts.   Subcontractor means not in the employment of the Agency, who is 

performing all or part of the activities related to this Agreement under a separate contract with the 

Agency responsible for the scope of work as identified within.  If utilizing subcontractors to 

perform the scope of work, the Agency is required to obtain subcontractors in compliance with 

RCW 39.26. Agency must provide both proof of competitive solicitation and that the solicitation 

was posted in WEBS, sole source filing and DES approval, or a documented exemption per DES 

policy, whichever the case may be. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:chief@kcfd3.com
mailto:wyatt.leighton@dnr.wa.gov
mailto:chief@kcfd3.com
mailto:callan.wilkins@dnr.wa.gov


 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  8 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

By signature below, the Parties certify that the individuals listed in this document, as 

representatives of the Parties, are authorized to act in their respective areas for matters related to 

this instrument. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement. 

 

WEST KLICKITAT REGIONAL FIRE 

AUTHORITY 

 STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL 

RESOURCES 

   

   

   

   
Signature                                                                  Date  Signature                                                            Date 

Wesley W. Long  Larry Leach 
Name  Name 

Fire Chief  SE Region Manager – Acting 
Title  Title 

   

P.O. Box 151  713 Bowers Road 

Husum, WA 98623  Ellensburg, WA, 98926 
Address  Address 

509-493-2996  509-925-0954 
Telephone  Telephone 

 

  



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  9 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

EXHIBIT A 

 

SCOPE OF WORK 

 
This agreement is to allow West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority to provide personnel for 

wildfire or emergency response within the State of Washington and to define DNR’s 

responsibility to pay and reimburse West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority. This includes IMT 

members and wildland resources (personnel, equipment, services and supplies available, or 

potentially available, for assignment to incidents) Personnel and equipment are described by kind 

and type, e.g., ground, water, air, etc., and may be used in tactical, support or overhead capacities 

at an incident. This agreement will not be an avenue for dispatches to fires outside of the State of 

Washington with the exception of rostered Type 1, 2 and 3 IMT members. This agreement does 

not address wildfire or emergency response operations, incident command or operational 

decisions. 

 

If a district/department has a Forest land Response Agreement (FLRA) it will take precedence 

over this agreement for dispatches to wildfire incidents, and this agreement will only be used for 

dispatching of IMT members to non-wildfire/all-hazard incidents. 

 

This agreement extends to all District/Department members as defined below: 

• Washington Fire Service (WFS) agency personnel that are full-time and part-time paid 

employees, and personnel under contract/agreement with the District/Department will be 

paid by the District/Department.  DNR will reimburse District/Department costs as 

outlined in this agreement.  Personnel covered under this section are regularly paid by the 

agency for performed work and are compensated the same for work including if assigned 

to an incident covered by this agreement “Full and Part Time Personnel.” 
• Members dispatched by DNR from a WFS agency that have contracts for the sole 

purpose of responding to wildfire or non-wildfire incidents outside of the agency’s 

jurisdictional boundaries are paid by the agency and reimbursed in accordance with the 

Washington State Wage & Equipment Rate Guide “Temporary Personnel.” 

• Members of a WFS agency who are volunteers will need to be hired by DNR via the DNR 

casual hire process and paid directly by DNR. This may be completed pre-season and shall be 

completed prior to the first dispatch. The local DNR Region office will handle the casual hire 

process. 

 

District/Department agrees that/to: 

1) All personnel dispatched will have a valid Incident Qualification Card (red card) stating current 

qualifications; and will adhere to qualifications and standards described in PMS 310-1; 

2) Provide a copy of the Master IQS Record for each participating employee (needed to update 

status in Interagency Resource Ordering Capability (IROC); 

3) Provide local DNR Dispatch with status of each employee who is listed as a rostered IMT 

member every Monday by 1200 hours. Dispatch will then update their status in IROC for that 

week (0800 Tuesday to 0800 Tuesday). 

4) All personnel and equipment dispatched will be paid by the District/Department; (except 

volunteers will follow payment procedures outlined in their individual agreement and be paid 

directly by DNR); 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  10 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

5) All Equipment and Personnel dispatched under this agreement will arrive at each incident with 

a copy of their current agreement. 

6) Invoice for personnel, equipment, & travel cost billed to DNR shall be submitted within sixty 

(60) days and will include the following: 

a.  DNR Personnel Reimbursement Request Worksheet 

b. Original Emergency Fire Time Report (OF-288); hourly wage rate including salaries & 

benefit (regular and OT) for personnel hours on the OF-288. 

c. Original Shift Ticket (OF-297) documenting mileage to/from incident as well as daily 

mileage incurred on the incident signed by incident supervisor. 

d. Original Emergency Equipment Use Invoice (OF-286) signed by finance section on the 

incident. 

e. Copy of district/department shift schedule 

f. Earning statements showing hourly wage for each employee  

g. Receipts or Copy of Employee travel reimbursement for travel expenses. 

h. Copy of Resource Order card. 

7) Volunteers shall submit original copies of payment documents directly to the DNR region 

office for payment. 

8) For fire line or off-road use, only utilize agency owned vehicles or procured rental vehicles. If 

agency owned vehicles are available, they shall be used prior to procuring a rental vehicle. 

a. Rental vehicles for off-road use must be procured using the USFS NERV rental 

vehicle agreement.  

b. Off-road rental vehicles procured from alternative sources other than the 

agreement listed above are not compensable. 

c.  Rental vehicle authorization must be documented on the resource order. Please 

speak with your local DNR Region for more specific information.  

d. In order to provide appropriate tracking for all rental vehicles, rentals ordered for 

overhead shall be ordered using the resource’s O#. They do not require their 

separate resource order number. 

e. The use of USFS NERV rental vehicles is specific to off-road use. Rental vehicles 

used for non-fire line positions must be approved on the resource order and shall 

be rented through alternative sources other than the USFS NERV rental vehicle 

agreement.   

 

DNR agrees that/to: 

 

1) Status the employee in the Interagency Resource Ordering Capability System (IROC). 

2) Dispatch resources on preseason IMT rosters, and alternate pool list. 

3) Reimburse the District/Department within 30 days of receipt of complete & accurate invoice 

and required documentation. 

4) Reimburse the District/Department for Temporary Personnel under contract or agreement with 

the District/Department, as defined above, per the Interagency Wildfire Resource Wage Rates 

in the Washington State Wage & Equipment Rate Guide. 

5) Reimburse the District/Department for Full and Part Time Personnel (as defined above) to the 

resource provider at the resource provider’s actual total cost. This will include backfill cost for 

the Full-time Personnel as outlined in the State Mobilization Plan. 

 



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  11 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

a. DNR will reimburse district/department of all regular scheduled hours for the personnel 

assigned to the incident.  

b. The DNR will not pay for muster time, wildland premium pay, portal to portal, or other 

unspecified pay provisions.  

c. Sleeping Periods, Meal Breaks, Time required for vehicle/equipment maintenance, 

Crew Change Time, Out of Service Time are considered non-compensable. 

6) Reimburse Fire Service District/Department for approved travel expenses.  The following 

guidelines apply: 

a. Per-diem is authorized for resources while traveling to an incident for meals that they 

are in travel status for the entire DNR designated meal period and will be based on 

where the resource stops to sleep.  

i. Breakfast: 7AM-8AM 

ii. Lunch: 12PM-1PM 

iii. Dinner: 6PM-7PM 

b. Once arriving at an incident all resources shall stay and eat in camp. Resources may not 

seek reimbursement for meals or lodging unless services are not provided by the 

incident. 

c. Approval for per diem shall be documented on the resource order card, or through 

written approval including justification, from the Incident Commander.  

d. Reimbursement for approved per-diem for incidents in Washington will be paid in 

accordance with Washington State Office of Financial Management (OFM) rates. 

Receipts are not required. 

e. Reimbursement for approved per-diem for incidents outside Washington, will be paid 

using the U.S. General Service Administration (GSA) daily per diem rates, applying the 

following breakdown: 25% for Breakfast, 30% for Lunch, 45% for Dinner, applied to 

daily totals including meals & incidental rates. Receipts are not required. 

f. Local resources who return home each night, and do not remain in camp overnight will 

not be entitled to per diem. 

g. Hotels will only be reimbursed at actual expenses including daily rate and applicable 

taxes, not to exceed the government rates established in (GSA). All hotel 

reimbursements require an itemized receipt and must be approved with a resource order 

or written approval from the Incident Commander. Booking fees associated with online 

travel agents are non-compensable.  

h. Alternate accommodations may be utilized at the expense of the user.  The cost for 

alternative accommodations is not reimbursable. 

i. For travel home if sack lunches are provided, per diem claims will not be reimbursed. 

j. Travel time to and from the incident will be paid according to the DNR pay provisions 

in the Washington State Wage & Equipment Rate Guide. 

k. Travel time and cost associated with picking up and dropping off rental vehicles will be 

paid according to the DNR pay provision in the Washington State Wage & Equipment 

Rate Guide.  

7)  Reimburse the district/department for all approved supply expenses approved at the incident. 

The following guidelines apply 

a. All supply expenses, with the exception of rental car fuel, require a resource order from 

the incident in order to be reimbursable. 

b. Itemized receipts must be included for all supply purchases in order to be eligible for 

reimbursement.   



 
 

Agreement No. 93-108032  12 of 12  

  Form update date: 23.02.23 

8) To pay all volunteers directly, unless otherwise requested in writing by the Chief. Volunteers 

will be paid for hours worked at the rates in the Washington State Wage & Equipment Rate 

Guide.  

9) Reimburse district/department for Equipment Cost at the rates published in the Washington 

State Wage & Equipment Rate Guide. 

a. All equipment will be paid at the wet rate 

b. All equipment will be paid based on the resource order 

c. All equipment will be paid according to the DNR provisions in the Washington State 

Wage & Equipment Rate Guide.  

 



























www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 1Rev. 10.31.2022

Section 604(a)(3)(B). For employment purposes including contractors, volunteers or evaluating a consumer for employment, promotion, 
reassignment, retention as an employee, where the consumer has given prior written permission.

For Tenant Screening Purposes at the written direction of the consumer to whom the report relates.

End-User Service Agreement

THIS END-USER AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between Mergers Marketing Inc. d/b/a 

Background Screeners of America a California corporation with offices at  9333 Melvin Avenue Northridge, CA 91324 

(“Company”) and _______________________________________________________________________ (“End-User”). 

This Agreement shall be effective on the date of last signature below (the “Effective Date”).

1. GENERAL

End-User is engaged in the business of ___________________________________________.  End-User represents that it is a legal 
entity in good standing with a legitimate permissible purpose for requesting the Services offered by Company. 

In connection with the Services (as such term is defined at https://backgroundscreenersofamerica.com/definition-of-services/ ) provided 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, Company strives to deliver accurate and timely information products to assist End-User in 
making intelligent and informed decisions for a permissible purpose under applicable law.  To this end, Company assembles information 
from a variety of sources, including databases maintained by consumer reporting agencies containing information from public records, 
other information repositories and third-party researchers.  End-User understands that these information sources and resources are not 
maintained by Company.  Therefore, Company cannot be a guarantor that the information provided from these sources is absolutely 
accurate or current.  Nevertheless, Company has in place reasonable procedures designed to respond promptly to claims of incorrect or 
inaccurate information in accordance with applicable law.

2. END-USER’S CERTIFICATION OF FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT (FCRA) PERMISSIBLE PURPOSE(S)

End-User hereby certifies that all of its orders for information products from Company shall be made, and the resulting reports shall be 
used, for the following Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., permissible purposes only (please check all that apply):

End-User will certify the specific permissible purpose at the time the report is requested.

3. END-USER’S CERTIFICATION OF LEGAL COMPLIANCE

End-User certifies to Company that the information products it receives will not be used in violation of any applicable federal, state 
or local laws, including, but not limited to the Fair Credit Reporting Act and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  End-User accepts 
full responsibility for complying with all such laws and for using the information products it receives from Company in a legally 
acceptable fashion. To that end, End-User agrees to comply with and provide all statutorily required notices in Section 615 of the Fair 
Credit Reporting Act or other state laws when using information products.  End-User further accepts full responsibility for any and all 
consequences of use and/or dissemination of those products.  End-User further agrees that each consumer report will only be used for a 
one-time use.

End-User agrees to have reasonable procedures for the fair and equitable use of background information and to secure the 
confidentiality of private information. End-User agrees to take precautionary measures to protect the security and dissemination of all 
consumer report or investigative consumer report information including, for example, restricting terminal access, utilizing passwords to 
restrict access to terminal devices, and securing access to, dissemination and destruction of electronic and hard copy reports. End User 
agrees to abide by Addendum A attached hereto which is incorporated into and is part of this Agreement.

As a condition of entering into this Agreement, End-User certifies that it has in place reasonable procedures designed to comply with 
all applicable local, state and federal laws.  Company will only keep information it provides to End-User for the lesser of two (2) years or 
as required by applicable law.  End-User certifies that it will retain information it receives from Company in accordance with applicable 
law and will make such information available to Company upon request.  In addition, End-User agrees to abide by all Ban the Box laws 

9333 Melvin Ave
Northridge, Ca 91324
P.877-643-2464 |
F.866-570-5656
Clientservices@bsascreen.com

https://backgroundscreenersofamerica.com/definition-of-services/


www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 2Rev. 10.31.2022

and certifies that it will not conduct a background check until after conditional offer of employment has been provided.  End-Users 
seeking credit information certify to Company that they have provided all disclosures required by applicable federal, state or local 
laws, regulations and ordinances to the consumer in connection with such requests and must provide information and sign Addendum 
B before Company can provide credit information to End-User.  Addendum B is incorporated into and is part of this Agreement, if 
applicable. End-User acknowledges, and agrees to notify its employees that End-User can access credit information only for the 
permissible purposes listed in the FCRA.

End-User understands that the credit bureaus require specific written approval from Company before the following persons, entities 
and/or businesses may obtain credit reports: private detectives, private detective agencies, private investigative companies, bail 
bondsmen, attorneys, law firms, credit counseling firms, security services, members of the media, resellers, financial counseling firms, 
credit repair clinics, pawn shops (except companies that do only Title pawn), check cashing companies (except companies that do only 
loans, no check cashing), genealogical or heir research firms, dating services, massage or tattoo services, businesses that operate out 
of an apartment, individuals seeking information for their own private use, adult entertainment services of any kind, companies that 
locate missing children, companies that handle third party repossession, companies seeking information in connection with time shares, 
subscriptions companies, individuals involved in spiritual counseling or persons or entities that are not an End-User or decision maker.

End-User represents that, if it orders credit reports, End-User will have a policy and procedures in place to investigate any discrepancy 
in a consumer’s address when notified by the credit bureau that the consumer’s address, as submitted by End-User, substantially varies 
from the address the credit bureau has on file for that consumer.

End-User hereby acknowledges that it has received a copy of the Summary of Rights (16 C.F.R. Part 601, Appendix A) and Notice of Users 
of Consumer Reports (16 C.F.R. Part 601, Appendix C).

End User hereby certifies that, under the Investigative Consumer Reporting Agencies Act (“ICRA”), California Civil Code Sections 1786 et 
seq., and the Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act (“CCRAA”), California Civil Code Sections 1785.1 et seq., if the End User is located 
in the State of California, and/or the End User’s request for and/or use of Information Products pertains to a California resident or worker, 
End User will do the following:

(i) Request and use Information Products solely for permissible purpose(s) identified under California Civil Code Sections
1785.11 and 1786.12.

(ii) When, at any time, Information Products are sought for employment purposes other than suspicion of wrongdoing
or misconduct by the consumer who is the subject of the investigation, provide a clear and conspicuous disclosure in writing to the 
consumer, which solely discloses: (1) that investigative Information Products may be obtained; (2) the permissible purpose of the 
investigative Information Products; (3) that information on the consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics and 
mode of living may be disclosed; and (4) the name, address, telephone number, and website of the Consumer Reporting Agency 
conducting the investigation; and (5) the nature and scope of the investigation requested, including a summary of the provisions of 
California Civil Code Section 1786.22.

(iii) When, at any time, Information Products are sought for employment purposes other than suspicion of wrongdoing or
misconduct by the consumer who is the subject of the investigation, only request an Information Product if the applicable consumer has 
authorized in writing the procurement of the Information Product.

(iv) When Information Products are sought in connection with the hiring of a dwelling unit, notify the consumer in writing that
an Information Product will be made regarding the consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics.  The notification 
shall include the name and address of End User as well as a summary of the provisions of California Civil Code Section 1786.22, no later 
than three days after the date on which the Information Product was first requested.

(v) When Information Products are sought in connection with the underwriting of insurance, clearly and accurately disclose in
writing at the time the application form, medical form, binder, or similar document is signed by the consumer that an Information Product 
regarding the consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and mode of living may be made, or, if no signed 
application form, medical form, binder, or similar document is involved in the underwriting transaction, the disclosure shall be made to the 
consumer in writing and mailed or otherwise delivered to the consumer not later than three days after the report was first requested.  The 
disclosure shall include the name and address of End User, the nature and scope of the investigation requested, and a summary of the 
provisions of California Civil Code Section 1786.22.

(vi) Provide the consumer a means by which he/she may indicate on a written form, by means of a box to check, that the
consumer wishes to receive a copy of any Information Products that are prepared.

(vii) If the consumer wishes to receive a copy of the Information Products, the End User shall send (or contract with another



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 3Rev. 10.31.2022

entity to send) a copy of the Information Product to the consumer within three business days of the date that the Information Product is 
provided to End User.  The copy of the Information Product shall contain the name, address, and telephone number of the person at End 
User who issued the report and how to contact him/her.

(viii) Under all applicable circumstances, comply with California Civil Code Sections 1785.20 and 1786.40 if the taking of
adverse action is a consideration, which shall include, but may not be limited to, advising the consumer against whom an adverse action 
has been taken that the adverse action was based in whole or in part upon information contained in the Information Product, informing 
the consumer in writing of End User’s name, address, and telephone number, and provide the consumer of a written notice of his/her 
rights under the ICRA and the CCRAA.

(ix) Comply with all other requirements under applicable California law, including, but, not limited to any statutes, regulations
and rules governing the procurement, use and/or disclosure of any Information Products, including, but not limited to, the ICRA and 
CCRAA.

A. When Information Products are Used for Employment Purposes
If the information products End-User obtains from Company are to be used for an employment purpose, End-User certifies that prior to 
obtaining or causing a “consumer report” and/or “investigative consumer report” to be obtained, a clear and conspicuous disclosure, 
in a document consisting solely of the disclosure, has been made in writing to the consumer explaining that a consumer report and/or 
investigative consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes.  Such disclosure satisfies all requirements identified in the 
FCRA, as well as any applicable state or local laws and the consumer has authorized, in writing, the obtaining of the report by End-User.  
End-User understands that Company will not initiate a report for Employment Purposes in the absence of a written authorization.  End-
User certifies that each time it orders a report, it is reaffirming the above certification.  
Prior to taking adverse employment action based in whole or in part on the information products provided by Company, End-User will 
provide to the consumer: (1) a copy of the report, and (2) a description, in writing, of the rights of the consumer entitled: “A Summary of 
Your Rights Under the Fair Credit Reporting Act.”  After the appropriate waiting period, End-User will issue to the consumer notice of the 
adverse action taken, including the statutorily required notices identified in Section 615 of the Fair Credit Reporting Act. 
Before taking adverse action based on a criminal record the EEOC Criminal History Guidance recommends that you perform an 
individualized assessment and or other considerations.  To obtain a copy of the EEOC Criminal History Guidance please go to the 
following website: http://www.eeoc.gov/laws/guidance/arrest_conviction.cfm.   
Please note, as it relates to criminal history information, Company only reports conviction records and does not report non-conviction 
information unless a case is pending with a next court date scheduled. 

B. When Information Products are Used for the Permissible Purpose of Tenant Screening
End-User certifies that it will obtain written authorization from the consumer tenant or resident applicant prior to the procurement of the 
any consumer report or investigative consumer report by the End-User.
If the consumer’s tenant application is denied, or other adverse action is taken based in whole or in part on the information products 
provided by Company End-User will provide to the consumer: a description, in writing, of the rights of the consumer entitled: “A Summary 
of Your Rights Under the Fair Credit Reporting Act”, the right to obtain a copy of his/her consumer report and provide the tenant or 
resident applicant a reasonable opportunity of time to correct any erroneous information contained in the report.  End-User certifies 
that any adverse action notice will comply with the FCRA including but not limited to satisfying all requirements under the FCRA if credit 
history is a disqualifying factor.  If using a credit score, End-User certifies that it will comply with the Dodd-Frank Act and all applicable 
regulations relating to using a credit score.  

C. Investigative Consumer Reports
In addition to the disclosure requirements identified above, if the consumer makes a written request within a reasonable amount of 
time, End-User will provide: (1) information about whether an investigative consumer report has been requested; (2) if an investigative 
consumer report has been requested, written disclosure of the nature and scope of the investigation requested; and (3) Company’s 
contact information, including complete address and toll-free telephone number.  This information will be provided to the consumer 
no later than five (5) days after the request for such disclosure was received from the consumer or such report was first requested, 
whichever is the latter.

D. International Criminal Record Searches
End-User understands that searches of international background screening will be conducted through the services of a third-party 
independent contractor.  Because of differences in foreign laws, language, and the way foreign records are maintained and reported.  
Company cannot be either an insurer or guarantor of the accuracy of the information reported.  End-User therefore releases Company 
and its affiliated companies, officers, agents, employees, and independent contractors from any liability whatsoever about erroneous 
information received as a result of an international background screening report.



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 4Rev. 10.31.2022

E. National/Multi-State Database Searches
Company recommends that End-User screen its applicants or employees at the county court-house or online system, federal, and multi-
state/nationwide database levels.  End-User understands that if it chooses not to conduct searches at these levels, Company cannot be 
held responsible for any records that exist that are not included in the End-User’s coverage requested.  End-User further understands 
that the multi-state/nationwide database report will only be offered in conjunction with a county-level verification of any records found 
and that End-User will bear any additional costs associated with this verification.

4. ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR MOTOR VEHICLE RECORDS (MVRS) AND DRIVING RECORDS

End-User hereby certifies that Motor Vehicle Records and/or Driving Records (MVRs) shall only be ordered in strict compliance with the 
Driver Privacy Protection Act (“DPPA”, at 18 U.S.C. § 2721 et seq.) and any related state laws.  End-User further certifies that no MVRs shall 
be ordered without first obtaining the written consent of the consumer to obtain “driving records,” evidence of which shall be transmitted 
to Company in the form of the consumer’s signed release authorization form.  End-User also certifies that it will use this information only 
in the normal course of business to obtain lawful information relating to the holder of a commercial driver’s license or to verify information 
provided by an applicant or employee.  End-User shall not transmit any data contained in the resulting MVR via the public internet, 
electronic mail or any other unsecured means.

5. WARRANTS

During the course of completing background checks, Company may uncover active arrest warrants which are outstanding against the 
subject.  In these cases, Company may be contacted by the law enforcement agency seeking the subject.  End-User understands that 
Company will furnish to law enforcement any information contained within the subject’s file to assist in the apprehension of the subject.  
Additionally, Company may contact End-User, and End-User agrees to release to Company, any information End-User may have which will 
further the apprehension of the wanted individual.

6. GENERAL PROVISIONS

End-User agrees not to resell, sub-license, deliver, display or otherwise distribute to any third party any of the information products 
addressed herein, except as required by law.  End-User may not assign or transfer this Agreement without the prior written consent of 
Company.  In addition, End-User shall immediately notify Company of any of the following events:  change in ownership of End-User 
(over 50%), a merger, change in name or change in the nature of End-user’s business.  The parties understand that this Agreement is 
for the sole benefit of Company and End-User and no third party shall be deemed a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement.  If any of 
the provisions of this Agreement become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions shall not in any way be impacted.  By agreement of the parties, California law shall guide the interpretation of this 
Agreement, if such interpretation is required.  All litigation arising out of this Agreement shall be commenced in California, and the parties 
hereby consent to such jurisdiction and venue.  Any written notice by either party shall be delivered personally by messenger, private 
mail courier service, or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid to the addresses listed below.  This 
Agreement shall be construed as if it were jointly prepared. Both parties agree that this Agreement constitutes all conditions of service, 
present and future.  Changes to these conditions may be made only by mutual written consent of an authorized representative of End-
User and an officer of Company.   The headings of each section shall have no effect upon the construction or interpretation of any part of 
this Agreement.

If End-User is permitted to request consumer reports for employment purposes via Company’s website, then, in addition to all other 
obligations, End-User agrees to abide by such additional conditions that may be imposed to utilize the website, provide all required 
certifications electronically, to maintain complete and accurate files containing all required consent, authorization and disclosure forms 
with regard to each consumer for whom a report has been requested, and maintain strict security procedures and controls to assure 
that its personnel are not able to use End-User’s Internet access to obtain reports for improper, illegal or unauthorized purposes.  End-
User agrees to obtain the consumer’s electronic consent to receive any legal or other notices electronically.  End-User agrees to allow 
Company to audit its records at any time, upon reasonable notice given.  Breaches of this Agreement and/or violations of applicable law 
discovered by Company may result in immediate suspension and/or termination of the account, legal action and/or referral to federal or 
state regulatory agencies.

7. MONITORING PRODUCTS

It is the sole responsibility of End-User, and End-User represents and warrants that it maintains reasonable procedures, to promptly notify 
Company of any personnel changes that are relevant to ensuring accuracy of the checks performed in connection with the monitoring 
products, including but not limited to MVR, Criminal and Health Care Compliance.  In addition, End-User shall comply with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws in connection with use of the monitoring products, including but not limited to any additional consent 
requirements under California law.



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 5Rev. 10.31.2022

8. CONFIDENTIALITY

Neither party shall reveal, publish or otherwise disclose any Confidential Information to any third party without the prior written consent 
of the other party.  “Confidential Information” means any and all Proprietary Intellectual Property (defined below) or secret data; sales or 
pricing information relating to either party, its operations, employees, products or services; and, all information relating to any customer, 
potential customer, Agent, and/or independent sales outlet.  The Parties agree to keep this information confidential at all times during 
the term of this Agreement, and continuing for five years after receipt of any Confidential Information.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary herein, in no event shall Company be required to destroy, erase or return any consumer reports or applicant data related thereto 
in Company’s files, all of which Company shall maintain as a consumer reporting agency in strict accordance with all applicable federal, 
state, and local laws.

In connection with Services, End-User may have access to Confidential Information relating to Company’s intellectual property, including 
but not necessarily limited to trade secrets, service marks, trademarks, trade names, logos, symbols, brand names, software, technology, 
inventions, processes (that are subject to a patent or otherwise pending) collectively “Proprietary Intellectual Property.”  End-User 
acknowledges and agrees that Company is the sole exclusive owner of all right, title and interest in such Proprietary Intellectual Property 
and it shall not disclose to any third party the nature or details of any such Proprietary Intellectual Property.  End-User further agrees that 
it has no right to publish, reproduce, prepare derivative works based upon, distribute, perform or otherwise display any of Company’s 
Proprietary Intellectual Property.

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

The parties agree that the relationship of the parties created by this Agreement is that of independent contractor and not that of 
employer/employee, principal/agent, partnership, joint venture or representative of the other. Except as authorized hereunder, neither 
party shall represent to third parties that it is the employer, employee, principal, agent, joint venture or partner with, or representative of 
the other party.

10. WARRANTIES,  REMEDIES,  AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

End-User understands that Company obtains the information reported in its information products from various third-party sources “AS IS”, 
and therefore is providing the information to End-User “AS IS”.  Company makes no representation or warranty whatsoever, express or 
implied, including but not limited to, implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for particular purpose, or implied warranties arising 
from the course of dealing or a course of performance with respect to the accuracy, validity, or completeness of any information products 
and/or consumer reports, that the information products will meet End-User’s needs, or will be provided on an uninterrupted basis; 
Company expressly disclaims any and all such representations and warranties.  

COMPANY WILL NOT BE LIABLE TO END-USER FOR DAMAGES, AND END-USER HEREBY RELEASES COMPANY FROM ANY LIABILITY 
FOR DAMAGES ARISING UNDER ANY THEORY OF LEGAL LIABILITY TO THE FULLEST EXTENT THAT END-USER MAY LEGALLY AGREE 
TO RELEASE COMPANY FROM LIABILITY FOR SUCH DAMAGES.  NONETHELESS, IN THE EVENT COMPANY IS DETERMINED BY A 
COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION TO BE LIABLE TO END-USER FOR ANY MATTER ARISING UNDER OR RELATING TO THIS 
AGREEMENT, WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, EQUITY, TORT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY CLAIM FOR 
NEGLIGENCE), THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGES RECOVERABLE AGAINST COMPANY FOR ALL SUCH MATTERS WILL NOT EXCEED, IN THE 
AGGREGATE, THE AMOUNT PAID TO COMPANY BY END-USER FOR THE SERVICE TO WHICH A GIVEN CLAIM RELATES PROVIDED 
PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT AND RECOVERY OF THE AMOUNT IS END-USER’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY HEREUNDER.  
IN THE EVENT COMPANY IS LIABLE TO END-USER FOR ANY MATTER RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER ARISING IN 
CONTRACT, EQUITY OR TORT (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY CLAIM FOR NEGLIGENCE), AND IN ADDITION TO ANY OTHER 
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY OR REMEDY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGES RECOVERABLE AGAINST 
COMPANY WILL NOT INCLUDE ANY AMOUNTS FOR INDIRECT OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOST PROFITS, LOST 
INCOME, OR LOST SAVINGS, OR FOR ANY AMOUNTS WITH RESPECT TO CLAIMS AGAINST COMPANY, EVEN IF COMPANY HAS BEEN 
ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY FOR SUCH DAMAGES.

End-User shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Company, its successors and assigns, officers, directors, employees, agents, 
vendors, credit bureaus and suppliers from and against any and all claims, suits, proceedings, actual damages, costs, expenses 
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) (“Losses”) brought or suffered by any third party arising or 
resulting from, or otherwise in connection with information products provided by Company, the content, compliance, method of delivery 
or effectiveness of any notices, pre-adverse or adverse action letters, any breach by End-User of any of its representations, warranties, or 
agreements in this Agreement or its negligence or willful misconduct. 

Company does not guarantee End-User’s compliance with all applicable laws in its use of reported information, and does not provide 
legal or other compliance related services upon which End-User may rely in connection with its furnishing of reports.  End-User 
understands that any documents, information, conversations or communication with Company’s representatives regarding searches, 



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 6Rev. 10.31.2022

verifications or other services offered by Company are not to be considered a legal opinion regarding such use.  End-User agrees that 
(1) it will consult with its own legal or other counsel regarding the use of background screening information, including but not limited to,
the legality of using or relying on reported information and to review any forms as well as the content of prescribed notices, adverse
or pre-adverse action letters and any attachments to this Agreement for compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and (2)
the provision of such notices, pre-adverse or adverse action letters and the contents thereof is the sole responsibility of End-User not
Company.  End-User acknowledges and agrees that it has no obligation to use, and is solely responsible for independently vetting the
contents of, any sample forms that Company has provided or may in the future provide to End-User in connection with this Agreement.

11. TERM AND TERMINATION

The term of this Agreement shall begin on the date it is executed by End-User and shall be in effect for one (1) year beginning on the 
first day of the assigned date below and renewed automatically for one (1) year each year on its anniversary date, if no written notice is 
received by either party within thirty (30) days prior to end of term. 

Except as otherwise provided for herein, either party may cancel this Agreement by giving thirty (30) day written notice to the other party. 
Company may terminate or revise the provisions of this Agreement immediately upon written notice if End-User undergoes a change in 
ownership. Termination of this Agreement by either party does not release End-User from its obligation to pay for services rendered or 
other responsibilities and agreements made. 

In addition to any and all other rights a party may have available according to law, if a party defaults by failing to perform any provision, 
term or condition of this Agreement the other party may terminate the Agreement by providing written notice to the defaulting party. This 
notice shall describe with sufficient detail the nature of the default. The party receiving such notice shall have fifteen (15) days from the 
receipt of such notice to cure the default(s).  Unless waived by party providing notice, the failure to cure the default(s) within such period 
shall result in the automatic termination of this Agreement.

12. FORCE MAJEURE

End-User agrees that Company is not responsible for any events or circumstances beyond its control (e.g., including but not limited to 
war, riots, embargoes, strikes and/or Acts of God) that prevent Company from meeting its obligations under this Agreement.

13. WAIVER

The failure of either party to insist in any one or more cases upon the strict performance of any term, covenant or condition of this 
Agreement will not be construed as a waiver or subsequent breach of the same or any other covenant, term or condition; nor shall any 
delay or omission by either party to seek a remedy for any breach of this Agreement be deemed a waiver by either party of its remedies 
or rights with respect to such a breach.

14. SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall be held invalid or unenforceable under 
any applicable law, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement that can be given effect 
without the invalid or unenforceable provision, or the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances, and, to this end, 
the provisions hereof are severable.

15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT & EXECUTION

This Agreement and all attachments and exhibits hereto, constitute the entire agreement of the parties and shall supersede any prior 
agreements governing the subject matter contained herein.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Both parties agree that 
an electronic signature on this agreement will be considered valid. A signature on a copy of this Agreement received by either party by 
facsimile is binding upon the other party as an original.  The parties shall treat a photocopy of such facsimile as a duplicate original.  The 
individuals signing below represent that they are duly authorized to do so.

S I G N A T U R E  PA G E  T O  F O L L O W



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 7Rev. 10.31.2022

SIGNATURE

I certify that I am authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of the company listed below. Further, I certify on behalf of 
such company, that the above statements are true and correct and agree for the company to the terms and conditions set 
forth in the Agreement.

ON BEHALF OF END-USER

COMPANY NAME:

COMPANY ADDRESS:

CITY: STATE: ZIP:

SIGNATURE: DATE:

PRINT NAME: TITLE:

BSA USE ONLY

SIGNATURE: DATE:

PRINT NAME: TITLE:



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 8Rev. 10.31.2022

The parties acknowledge they must work together to protect the privacy of consumers.  The following measures are 

designed to reduce unauthorized access of consumer reports.  In accessing consumer information, End-User agrees to the 

following:

1. End-User will take reasonable procedures to protect its account number and password so that only key personnel

employed by your company know this sensitive information, including not posting this information anywhere in the

facility. End-User agrees to request an account password change immediately if a person who knows the password

leaves its company or no longer needs to have access due to a change in duties.

2. End-User agrees that system access software, whether developed by your company or purchased from a third-party

vendor, will have End-User’s account number and password “hidden” or embedded and be known only by supervisory

personnel.  End-User will assign each user of its system access software a unique logon password. If such system

access software is replaced by different access software and therefore no longer is in use or, alternatively, the hardware

upon which such system access software resides is no longer being used or is being disposed of, or if the password

has been compromised or believed to be compromised in any way, End-User will change its password immediately.

3. End-User agrees it will not discuss its account number or password by telephone with any unknown caller, even if the

caller claims to be an employee of Company

4. End-User will restrict the ability to obtain consumer information to a few key personnel.

5. End-User agrees to place all terminal devices used to obtain consumer information in a secure location within its facility

so that unauthorized persons cannot easily access them.

6. End-User agrees it will turn off and lock all devices or systems used to obtain consumer information.

7. End-User will secure hard copies and electronic files of consumer reports within its facility so that unauthorized persons

cannot easily access them.

8. End-User agrees to shred and/or destroy all hard copy consumer reports when they are no longer needed and

erase and overwrite or scramble electronic files containing consumer information when no longer needed and when

applicable regulation(s) permit destruction.

9. End-User agrees to notify its employees that End-User can access credit information only for the permissible purposes

listed in the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

Access Security Requirements

ADDENDUM A



www.BackgroundScreenersofAmerica.com Page | 9Rev. 10.31.2022

Before End-User will be allowed to access credit report information, Company requires that End-User provide one (1) of 

the following items listed below (if End-User is not publicly traded) and receive an onsite inspection to verify company 

information and physically review End-User’s onsite location.  Certain criteria must be met at the onsite inspection per 

requirements of the credit bureau.  Cost for the onsite inspection will be the responsibility of the End-User and End-User will 

receive an invoice for any related costs and expenses from Background Screeners of America.

1. Business license status from a government web site (please include entire web page print out);

2. Business license, copy or documented verification;

3. Documented corporation verification with state or federal government;

4. Copy of Articles of Incorporation with proof of filing;

5. State and/or federal tax records originating from the state or federal government;

6. FDIC Certification; or

7. 501(c)(3) certificate for non-profit originations.

If End-User is a publicly traded company, the following items are acceptable methods for verifying that the End-User is a 

bona fide entity:

1. Documentation of ticker symbol information from trading website;

2. Certified copy of audited annual or quarterly statements submitted to the SEC.

Documents Required Before Requesting Credit Report Information

ADDENDUM B


	0.022 WKRFA_MeetingChecklist
	1. 2024 0930 WKRFA  MINUTES draft
	2. 2024 1010 Meeting Packet
	3. 2024-14 Deferred Compensation Program
	3. 2024-15 Resolution 2025 Levy
	4. 93-108031_WFMD_SE_SC_West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority_FLRA_Signatures
	5. 93-108032_WFMD_SE_IAA_West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority_Signatures
	6. 2024WKRFA EMAC Agreement
	7. BSA End-User Agreement

	EndUser:  West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority.
	EndUser represents that it is a legal:  Fire Protection
	undefined: On
	undefined_2: Off
	COMPANY NAME:       West Klickitat Regional Fire Authority.
	COMPANY ADDRESS:    200 Husum Street 
	CITY:     Husum
	STATE:     WA
	ZIP:     98623
	DATE: 
	PRINT NAME: 
	TITLE: 
	DATE_2: 
	PRINT NAME_2: 
	TITLE_2: 


